

Georgia Southern University
Digital Commons@Georgia Southern

Honors College Theses

11-9-2021

Development of Gluten-Free Sugar Cookies Using Kudzu Starch as a Partial Fat Replacement Ingredient

Saabirah Carr Georgia Southern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/honors-theses

Part of the Dietetics and Clinical Nutrition Commons

Recommended Citation

Carr, Saabirah, "Development of Gluten-Free Sugar Cookies Using Kudzu Starch as a Partial Fat Replacement Ingredient" (2021). *Honors College Theses*. 668. https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/honors-theses/668

This thesis (open access) is brought to you for free and open access by Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors College Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@georgiasouthern.edu.

Development of Gluten-Free Sugar Cookies Using Kudzu Starch as a Partial Fat Replacement Ingredient

An Honors Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for Honors in Health Sciences and Kinesiology

> By Saabirah Carr

Under the mentorship of *Dr. Joelle Romanchik-Cerpovicz*

ABSTRACT

The prevalence of kudzu has risen in the United States since its introduction in 1876. Though its invasiveness may play a negative role in our ecosystems, its roots have been used nutritionally in China for over 2,000 years because of their high starch content. In the United States, the use of kudzu starch as food products is limited. This study compared the moisture content and spread of reduced-fat gluten-free cookies prepared with kudzu starchthickened aqueous mixture to similar gluten-free cookies prepared with rice flour and gluten-containing all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies with kudzu starch, to gluten-containing sugar cookies (control). Moisture content was determined gravimetrically, while cookie spread was measured in centimeters. The results indicated that, compared to the control wheat flour (6.2%) and rice flour cookie (3.4%), the kudzu rice flour and kudzu wheat flour cookie had mean moisture contents (14%) which were significantly higher than control cookies (p=0.001). Substitution of kudzu starch for margarine in rice flour cookies (8.11 +/- 0.32 cm) and wheat flour cookies (7.18 +/- 0.33 cm) resulted in a significant difference in spread between the two. However, control rice flour cookies prepared with margarine (9.94 +/- 0.40cm) were significantly different compared to control wheat flour cookies (7.41 +/-0.30cm) and kudzu rice flour cookies due to lack of gluten and moisturethickened starch. This study shows that kudzu starch can be successfully incorporated into cookies to reduce fat content and combined with gluten-free flours to achieve moisture and maintain structure.

Thesis Mentor:_____

Dr. Joelle Romanchik-Cerpovicz

Honors Director:_____

Dr. Steven Engel

December 2021 Health Sciences and Kinesiology University Honors Program Georgia Southern University

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Joelle Romanchik-Cerpovicz for her mentorship throughout my thesis development. The completion of this study could not have been possible without her expertise, positive energy, and encouragement.

I would also like to thank my family of course, but more importantly my sister, Nefertari, for her endless support and our advice sharing for each other's thesis.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my deceased best friend Johanna Dieudonne whom inspired me to start on this thesis journey and complete what she was unable to finish.

Table of Contents

List of Abbreviations	1
Chapter One: Introduction	2
1.1 Diet-Related Health Conditions	2
1.1.1 Heart Disease	2
1.1.2 Celiac Disease	3
1.2 Functions Fat and Gluten in Foods	3
1.2.1 Fat and Modifications	3
1.2.2 Modifications of Fat Content in Baked Goods	5
1.2.3 Gluten	8
1.2.4 Modifications to Gluten-Containing Products to Create Gluten-free products	8
1.3 Kudzu	11
1.4 Goals of this Project	13
Chapter Two: Materials and Methods	15
2.1 Materials	15
2.2 Standardization of Drop Sugar Cookie Recipe	16
2.3 Preparation of Kudzu Starch	16
2.4 Preparation of Sugar Cookies	17
2.4.1 Control Sugar Cookies Recipe	17
2.4.2 Preparation of Rice Flour Sugar Cookies	18
2.4.3 Preparation of Control Sugar Cookies with Kudzu Starch	18
2.4.4 Preparation of Rice Flour Cookies with Kudzu Starch	19
2.5 Objective Evaluation Methods	19

2.5.1 Measurement of Cookie Spread	19
2.5.2 Measurement of Moisture Content	19
2.6 Statistical Analysis	19
Chapter 3: Results	21
3.1 Moisture Content of Cookies	21
3.2 Spread of Cookies	21
Table 1. Moisture Content and Spread of Cookies	23
3.3 Compositional Analysis	24
Table 2. Compositional Analysis of Cookies	25
Chapter 4: Summary and Discussion	26
References	31
Appendices	45
Appendix A: Time Schedule of Study	46
Appendix B: Biographical Summary	48

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
g	Gram
K-cal	Kilocalories
LDL	Low-density Lipoprotein
ml	Milliliter
qt	Quart

Chapter One

Introduction and Literature Review

<u>1.1 Diet-Related Health Conditions</u>

Foods can provide an abundant amount of nutrients and energy but can also lead to certain food-related health conditions depending on the type of food and the individual. Examples of these conditions include heart disease (Bhupathiraju and Tucker, 2011) and Celiac disease (Littlejohns et al., 2021)

1.1.1 Heart Disease

Heart disease, specifically coronary artery disease, is prevalent worldwide among children and adults and is one of the main causes of morbidity and mortality (Formentini et al., 2019). In 2015, cardiovascular disease (CVD) reached over 400 million cases worldwide with 17.7 million deaths. (Formentini et al., 2019). These deaths represented 31% of all global deaths (Zhu et al., 2019). Formation of arterial coronary plaque is the ultimate mechanism that leads to CVD progression (Wang et al., 2020). A diet high in both saturated and trans saturated fat has been shown to contribute to the development of heart disease (Fattore and Massa, 2018). The Dietary Guidelines for Americans, recommends limiting saturated fats to less than 10% of total energy intake (Lichtenstein, 2019). If consumed in high amounts, saturated fats can cause a buildup of lipids within arterial walls which can lead to limited blood supply for the body (Vinay et al., 2020). Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) is also a major causal factor in the development of CVD (Domanski et al., 2020) because it is the primary carrier of cholesterol that contributes to the development of fatty deposits in the blood

vessels (Albarrati et al., 2018). Epidemiological research has shown that the replacement of dietary saturated fats with unsaturated fats or fat substitutes is associated with the reduction in cardiovascular disease events and deaths (Kris-Etherton and Krauss, 2020).

1.1.2 Celiac Disease

Celiac Disease was once viewed as a rare disorder, but now affects millions of lives worldwide (Garner, 2016). This disease causes an autoimmune reaction to gluten which damages the small intestine when consumed (Bascunan et al., 2017). Gluten is part of a family of storage proteins that are found in grains, such as wheat, rye, spelt, and barley (Bascunan et al., 2017)). Individuals are either genetically predisposed or exposed to certain non-dietary environmental factors that can contribute to its pathogenesis rather than being caused by certain diets or foods (Ciao et al., 2019). When people with Celiac Disease eat gluten, their body automatically switches into defense mode against the gluten protein by primarily attacking and affecting the small intestine (Fueyo-Diaz et al., 2019). This autoimmune response results in damaged villi, and various GI symptoms including diarrhea, abdominal pain, and sometimes constipation (Caio et al., 2019). The only known treatment for Celiac Disease is the complete avoidance of gluten-containing foods (Otman et al., 2020)

<u>1.2 Functions of Fat and Gluten in Foods</u>

<u>1.2.1 Fat and modifications</u>

Most baked goods contain some form of fat in their recipes because of the crucial structural and textural properties fat plays (Biguzzi et al., 2014).

Specifically, fat plays a significant role in leavening products, tenderizing, as well as contributing moisture and creaminess in food products (Huang, 2019). There are many forms of fats used in baked products.

Milk fats primarily come from the milk of cattle and consist of the fatty portion of milk. The use of butter, buttermilk, ghee, and cheese are a few of the common milk fat products utilized in baked goods (Huang et al., 2019). Milk fats represent the most important dietary lipids in Western countries because they are known to perform various roles in bakery products (Huang et al., 2019). Some of their functions include dough strengthening, textural softeners, filling fats, coating lipids, and flavor improvers (Huang et al., 2019). They play more of a strengthening role in yeast-leavened bread dough, whereas in cakes, fats mainly contribute to aeration (Huang et al., 2019). As for cookies, milk fats are mainly responsible for textural effects like crisping and puffing of cookies (Huang et al., 2019).

The semi-solid soft white fat located in the adipose tissue of a pig is lard (Munir et al., 2019). This dairy and protein free fat was commonly used back in the 19th century but is now looked down upon due to its association with nutrition-related health conditions (Yanty et al., 2018). Aside from its popularity, lard is primarily used in the creation of pie crust because of its larger crystalline nature which helps to create more layers (Engelmann et al., 2018). For that reason, lard can also be incorporated into biscuits for ideal texture. Commercially, lard is not used in cookie making but still creates softer cookie dough texture with uniformed cookie spread (Manaf et al., 2019).

Unlike lard which consists of 80% animal fat and 20% water, vegetable shortening contains 100% vegetable fat (Marcus, 2013). It is commonly made from the extraction of plant oils such as soybean, cottonseed, and palm oil (Parsons, 1922). It has the ability to lubricate, weaken, and shorten the structure of bakery products (Huang et al., 2019). This solid fat is often used as a replacement to butter and lard because of its stability at high temperatures during heat transfer (Smith and Johansson, 2004). This ingredient has been through a process of hydrogenation to accomplish that same that partially hydrogenated oils once performed.

Reduction of fat in baked goods is considered important to maintain or improve the health of American citizens (Kriss-Etherton and Krauss, 2020). Popular fats including milk fats, lard, and shortening contain high proportions of saturated or hydrogenated fat that could be replaced with polyunsaturated fats or fat substitutes to help reduce the risk of coronary heart disease (Hamley, 2017).

1.2.2 Modification of Fat Content in Baked Goods

It may be more so the type of fat being consumed rather than the amount that can increase the risk of certain health conditions. Researchers say that replacement of saturated fats with monounsaturated or polyunsaturated fats will lower cardiovascular heart disease events (Kriss-Etherton and Krauss, 2020). Specifically, saturated and trans-saturated fats which come from animal fats or partially hydrogenated oils are often incorporated into baked goods (Slining and Popkin, 2013). These fats are associated with an increased risk of heart disease and other nutrition related conditions due to their abilities to elevate blood cholesterol levels and prompt the blockage in arteries in the heart and other vessels (Sudheendran et al., 2020). Many modifications to baked goods have been made to decrease total fat content, including the use of healthier fat alternatives.

From apple peels to applesauce, apples have started to play significant roles in the food and baking industry (Zbikowska and Kowalska, 2017). Apples contain health promoting ingredients such as polyphenols that are antioxidants and fiber which can help lower blood cholesterol and glucose (Zbikowska and Kowalska, 2017). One of the easiest ways to reduce fat in baked goods is substituting applesauce in place of fat because its pectin content allows gel formation with flour (Min, 2010). Researchers have also used apple fiber in cakes, which resulted in an increase in density and crumb hardness in short crust biscuits (Zbikowska and Kowalska, 2015).

Avocado puree is a medium energy dense fruit that has a buttery texture and can be utilized as a fat replacer in baked goods (Nurulain et al., 2016). Because avocado is high in monounsaturated fats, unlike lard and butter, it promotes reduced blood glucose concentrations and lower plasma LDL cholesterol blood lipid profiles as well as regulates blood glucose due to its bioactive phytochemicals (Park et al., 2018). In muffin production, the use of avocado puree had no significant effects on physical properties like hardness, cohesiveness, and chewiness of muffins, making it an appropriate natural ingredient as a butter replacement in baked goods. (Nurulain et al., 2016). In cookies, avocado puree created a cake-like texture and lower cookie spread (Wekwete and Navder, 2008).

While pumpkin may alter the color of baked products, its high fiber content and low calories helps it perform well as a substitute for shortening (Dadkhah et al., 2017). Researchers have used pumpkin powder as a shortening replacer in cakes (Dadkhah et al., 2017). This substitution resulted in cakes with high moisture contents (Dadkhah et al., 2017). This may have been due to the high fiber content in pumpkin and its water binding ability to maintain that moisture and weight in the cake (Dadkhah et al., 2017).

Plant gums such as those contained in okra can also be used as fat replacers, due to their high water-soluble fiber content and binding properties. Specifically, okra gum is contained in the plant's immature pods (Hu and Lai, 2017). Okra gum has been used as an acceptable fat replacer in chocolate bar cookies (Romanchik-Cerpovicz et al., 2002). It can also replace fat in drop batter breads such as banana bread while enhancing nutritional qualities and not changing the color or flavor of the product (Hu and Lai, 2017). When using okra gum for bakery products, ingredients like the amount of egg may have to be reduced and flour content increased due to the gum's liquid-like consistency (Hu and Lai, 2017).

Scientists have also utilized mungbean starch in the production of cakes with acceptable results of texture, color,and quality (Punia et al., 2019). Mungbeans are mainly cultivated in the Eastern and Southern Asian regions, as well as the Indian subcontinent and they are typically used as bean sprouts for soups, salads, and stir-frys (Kyoung-Mo Koo et al., 2003). A few studies have shown that mungbean starch can successfully be used as fat replacer in baked goods, such as cakes (Punia et al., 2019). Sneh Punia used mungbean starch in cake, but the starch was modified with octenyl succinic anhydride which helped to prevent separation of oil and water (Punia et al., 2019).

1.2.3 Gluten

In the baking industry, wheat is primarily used in the form of flour, to create many types of commercialized products including loaf bread, cakes, cookies, and noodles (Li et al., 2016). It has played a critical role in historic civilization and agriculture. In the 3rd millennium BC, common crops such as wheat and barley were cultivated in Northwestern India (Pokharia et al., 2016). The most common reason for their utilization is its gluten content (Li et al., 2016).

Gluten is a combination of storage proteins found in certain grains like wheat, rye, and barley. These long chain proteins are quite elastic (Li et al., 2016), so when combined with moisture and leavening agents, such as yeast, the inflation in the food product results in its unique structure (Lucas et al., 2020). Because gluten is a protein, it tends to harden when heated, so the hardening of the gluten molecules is what contributes to the baked goods appearance, texture, and quality (Heredia-Sandoval et al., 2016).

<u>1.2.4 Modifications to Gluten-Containing Products to Create Gluten-free products</u>

There is a growing trend in the availability of gluten-free products on the market due to a worldwide rise in the prevalence of Celiac disease (Glissen Brown and Singh, 2019). Although there are still nutritional and sensory

challenges in gluten-free product development, many replacements have been shown to have consumer appeal (Stantiall and Serventi, 2018).

Because the quality of wheat greatly depends on viscoelastic properties of gluten, various ingredients have been examined to mimic the properties of gluten (Yano et al., 2019). Researchers have used rice flour and mung bean starch to create gluten-free instant noodles (Sutheeves et al., 2020) and using chickpea protein isolate to enhance the protein content of noodles (Sofi et al., 2020). Gluten-free crackers have also been developed with teff flour, which is also a more nutritive alternative to all-purpose wheat flour due to higher protein and fiber content (Rico et al., 2019). In addition, teff flour has been shown to enhance antioxidant properties of crackers and shows a similar sensory profile to rice crackers (Rico et al., 2019).

Buckwheat flour is also a gluten-free flour which provides high protein and fiber content (Urubkov et al., 2020). It is nutritionally beneficial as it contains biologically active elements (Urubkov et al., 2020). Its binding properties allow buckwheat to become very gelatinous when moisture is added making it suitable for various types of food products like noodles, pancakes, and jellies (Dragomir and Bahaciu, 2019). When used in cookies, however, the products appear darker in color compared to wheat flour. In addition, it was crumbly in nature. (Torbica et al., 2012).

Almond flour has become a popular flour due to its gluten free components (Granato and Ellendersen, 2009). It is made from ground and blanched almonds and is commonly used in baked goods and alternative grain-free breadcrumbs (Almeida et al., 2019). It contains many minerals like iron, magnesium, and calcium. However, it contains a higher fat content which, unlike wheat flour, can result in a significant increase in oiliness and shininess of food products (Jia et al., 2008).

When whole-grain oats are ground together, the resulting product is oat flour. Though this flour is gluten-free, cross contamination of oats with gluten may occur in the supply chain (Koerner et al., 2013). The grain infrastructure, which includes growing, transporting, and milling, increases the risk for naturally glutenfree cereals to be contaminated with gluten (Koerner et al., 2013). Oat flour is high in soluble fiber, beta-glucan, and rich in protein and magnesium (Qian et al., 2020). When used for bread baking, the product will likely be moister, with a chewier, and more crumbly texture than when wheat flour is used. Unfortunately though, it may result in an unpleasant flavor in the finished product (Majzoobi, 2016).

Rice flour is considered to be a suitable replacement for wheat, due to its worldwide availability and tolerance (Yano et al., 2019). Rice flour is rich in easily digestible carbohydrates and contains low amounts of protein but high amounts of fiber (Sciarini et al., 2010). It can be used as a thickening agent because it prevents liquid separation, making it useful for soups, sauces, and gravies (Aryupong et al., 2019). Rice flour can also be used in cakes and cookies but may result in lower volume with a crispier texture due to its fine, softer texture (Dragomir and Bahaciu, 2019). Additional ingredients like chickpea flour can be added to rice flour mixtures to increase fat and protein content and produce products with higher foaming capacity and stability (Kahraman et al., 2018). Another proteinenhancing ingredient added to rice flour is Bombay locust powder (Patanga succincta L.) which comes from a locust species in India and Southeast Asia (Indriani et al., 2020), Researchers used Bombay locust powder mixed with rice flour for cake development. This cake had an increased protein content consumer acceptability (Indriani et al., 2020).

For an increase of viscosity, Konjac flour, an herb also known as glucomannan, was used in cookies, and resulted in higher spread ratio with an increase in panelist acceptance, regarding texture and overall acceptability (Akesowan, 2016)

Pea protein, an easily digestive protein source made from yellow peas, was added to rice flour cookie and researchers observed an increased in hydration, but limited cookie spread measurement during baking time (Mancebo et al., 2016). The study revealed a successful trial with pea protein cookies having high consumer acceptability (Mancebo et al., 2016).

1.3 Kudzu

Kudzu starch comes from the root of the kudzu plant (Li et al., 2019). In North America, specifically the southern region, the invasive species kudzu is known for its fast growth rate (Hudson and Aborn, 2020). Its large, perennial woody vine and deep tap roots blanket many native plant species, while dominating the sun light and nutrients of where its planted (Alderman, 2015). It is native to Southeastern Asia and is commonly used in traditional Chinese medicine (Wong et al., 2011). Over 2000 years, kudzu root has been used to treat fever, acute dysentery, diarrhea, diabetes, and heart disease due to its abundant number of phytochemicals (Wong et al., 2011). Kudzu starch also contains several bioactive isoflavones including daidzein, which may possess anti-cancer properties (Li et al., 2019).

Aside from the kudzu root being nutritionally beneficial, it is also a good source of starch giving it high paste viscosity properties (Reddy et al., 2017). It possesses a neutral flavor which may promote its usage in baked goods (Li et al., 2019). The starch has not been utilized in the Western food industry due to limited information regarding its molecular structure (Reddy et al., 2017) but researchers have begun using the starch in food products like noodles, puddings, and cakes (Romanchik et al., 2020).

Goals of This Project

While some studies have examined the physical and sensory properties of kudzu starch as a cornstarch replacement, no studies to date have used the starch as a fat substitute in cookies, especially cookies which have been altered in to remove gluten. Therefore, the principle goal of this project is to determine changes in the objective quality, including spread and percent moisture, of sugar cookies with and without gluten in regular and lower fat versions. It is hypothesized that a kudzu rice flour sugar cookie will spread the same as the wheat flour sugar cookie and that the overall percent moisture will be higher than gluten-containing and gluten-free sugar cookies without the replacement of margarine with moisture-thickened kudzu starch.

Aim 1

To determine the moisture content of reduced-in-fat, gluten-free, sugar cookies following rice flour incorporation and substitution of kudzu starch for margarine.

Aim 2

To determine the spread of reduced fat, gluten-free, sugar cookies containing rice flour and kudzu starch.

Aim 3

To compare the moisture content to gluten-free, reduced fat, rice flour sugar cookies with kudzu and reduced fat all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies with kudzu to all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies and gluten-free rice flour sugar cookies. Aim 4

To compare the spread of gluten-free, reduced fat, rice flour sugar cookies and reduced fat, all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies with kudzu to all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies and gluten-free rice flour sugar cookies.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Ingredient	All-purpose	Gluten-free	All-purpose	Gluten-free
	Wheat Flour	Rice Flour	Wheat flour	Rice Flour
	Cookies (g)	Cookies (g)	cookies with	Cookies with
			Kudzu (g)	Kudzu (g)
Sugar	227	227	227	227
All-purpose	212.8		212.8	
Wheat Flour				
Rice Flour		212.8		212.8
Margarine	127.5	127.5		
Kudzu Starch-			127.5	127.5
Thickened				
Water				
Shortening	113.5	113.5	113.5	113.5
Eggs	37.7	37.7	37.7	
Baking Soda	2.9	2.9	2.9	2.9
Cream of	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Tartar				
Salt	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8

Other Materials:

Balance

Mixing bowls

KitchenAid Classic standing mixer

Wax paper

Parchment paper

Cookie Sheet (15" x 10.3" x 0.7")

2.2 Standardization of Drop Sugar Cookie Recipe

The recipe was first modified to yield 2 dozen cookies instead of 8 dozen cookies. The method for this procedure was as follows:

- Each ingredient was converted to grams using the USDA Food Data Central tool.
- 2. Once converted to grams, each ingredient was divided by four.
- Each ingredient was placed on a scale with wax paper to weigh the specific grams needed.

2.3 Preparation of Kudzu Starch

The preparation of kudzu starch was developed based upon the method for cornstarch -thickened mixture published in the Experimental Foods Laboratory Manual 9th edition (2017). The method is as follows:

1. Water (472ml) was slowly stirred into 32 g of kudzu starch in a 1-qt heavy aluminum saucepan.

- The mixture was cooked over direct heat while stirring constantly to prevent lumping and heated to boiling. The mixture was brought to a full boil and stirred continuously for one minute.
- The Kudzu starch mixture was then placed in a bowl and cooled in a shallow pan of ice water to room temperature, while being stirred occasionally.

2.4 Preparation of Sugar Cookies

2.4.1 Control Sugar Cookie Recipe

Shortening, margarine, and sugar were combined in a KitchenAid Classic mixer bowl with flat beater attachment and mixed on low speed 2 for 30 seconds. After scraping the bowl, the ingredients were further mixed on medium speed 4 for 30 seconds, and then after another scraping, they were mixed on high speed 10 for 5 minutes. Egg and vanilla were added to the creamed mixture and beaten on speed 10 for 1 minute. The bowl was then scraped. Dry ingredients including all-purpose flour, cream of tartar, baking soda, and salt were combined in a separate bowl. Then, half of the dry mixture was added to creamed mixture and mixed on medium speed 4 for 30 seconds. After scraping the bowl, the rest of the dry ingredients were added and mixed again on speed 4 for another 30 seconds. Using a No. 40 dipper, individual cookie dough balls were dropped onto a baking sheet lined with parchment paper. Cookies were baked in oven at (190°C) 375°F for eight minutes.

2.4.2 Preparation of Rice Flour Sugar Cookies

The rice flour cookie recipe used with the same mixing methods as the control sugar cookies in Section 2.4.1 with the exception that in place of allpurpose wheat flour, rice flour was combined with the other dry ingredients. Using a No. 40 dipper, cookie dough balls were dropped onto a baking sheet lined with parchment paper. Cookies were placed in the oven at (190°C) 375°F for eight minutes.

2.4.3 Preparation of Control Sugar Cookies with Kudzu Starch

Shortening, and sugar were combined in a KitchenAid Classic mixer bowl with flat beater attachment and mixed on low speed 2 for 30 seconds. After scraping the bowl, the ingredients were further mixed on medium speed 4 for 30 seconds, and then after another scraping the bowl, they were mixed on high speed 10 for 5 minutes. Egg and vanilla were added to the creamed mixture and beaten on speed 10 for 1 minute. Moisture-thickened kudzu starch mixture was added, in place of margarine, to creamed mixture and mixed on speed 2 for 1 minute. The bowl was then scraped. Dry ingredients including all-purpose flour, cream of tartar, baking soda, and salt were combined in a separate mixing bowl. Then, half of dry mixture was added to the creamed mixture and mixed on speed 4 for 30 seconds. After scraping the bowl, the rest of the dry ingredients were added and mixed again on speed 4 for another 30 seconds. Using a No. 40 dipper, three cookie dough balls were dropped onto a baking sheet lined with parchment paper. Cookies were baked in the oven at (190°C) 375°F for eight minutes

2.4.4 Preparation of Rice Flour Cookies with Kudzu Starch

The rice flour cookies with kudzu starch were prepared using the same mixing methods as the control cookies in Section 2.4.3 with the exception that in place of all-purpose wheat flour, an equal amount of rice flour was combined with the other dry ingredients. Using a No. 40 dipper, cookie dough balls were dropped onto a baking sheet lined with parchment paper. Cookies were placed in oven at (190°C) 375°F for eight minutes.

2.5 Objective Evaluation Methods

2.5.1 Measurement of Moisture Content

Moisture content (%) was determined as {(initial mass-dried mass)/initial mass} x 100. Samples (n=3) of each type of freshly prepared cookies were analyzed for moisture content. The cookies were cooled to (25°C) 77°F. The Thermogravimetric Moisture Analysis Method utilized drying the samples to a constant weight (105 degrees Celsius; 3 hours) (AOAC, 2000).

2.5.2 Measurement of Cookie Spread

Cookie samples freshly baked and cooled to (25°C) 77°F were analyzed for spread (diameter) using a 30 cm ruler. Each type of cookie was assessed 12 times.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

Cookie spread and moisture content (mean +/- standard deviation) were analyzed statistically using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with posthoc testing by Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons using InStat Instant BioStatistics (version 3.0 for Windows, 1998-1999, Graph Pad Software, Inc, San Diego, CA). Significance was determined at p< 0.05.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Moisture Content of Cookies

The moisture content of the wheat flour cookies prepared with margarine averaged 6.2% while that of the rice cookies prepared with margarine averaged 3.3% (**Table 1**). There was a trend which showed wheat flour cookies prepared with margarine may have more moisture in comparison to the rice flour cookies. However, the difference in mean values was not significant.

The lower fat version of rice flour cookies prepared with kudzu starch had a mean moisture content of 14% which was significantly higher than control rice flour cookies (p=0.001). The wheat flour cookies with kudzu similarly averaged 14% moisture. This moisture was significantly higher than the moisture in wheat flour cookies prepared with margarine (p=0.01). Similarly, the substitution of Kudzu for margarine in rice flour sugar cookies resulted in a product with significantly more moisture (p=0.001).

3.2 Spread of Cookies

The average spread for the wheat flour cookies prepared with margarine (7.4 cm) was significantly less than that of the rice flour cookies prepared with margarine (9.9 cm) (p=0.001) (**Table 1**).

The lower fat version of rice flour cookies prepared with kudzu starch also had an average spread (8.1 cm) which was significantly less than the control rice flour control cookies (9.9cm) (p=0.001) while the spread of the wheat flour

cookies with kudzu (7.2 cm) was not quite significantly different from the control wheat flour cookies prepared with margarine (7.4 cm) (p=0.05) (Table 1).

Moisture Content (n=3)	(%)
Wheat Flour Cookies (Control)	6.23 +/- 0.23
Rice Flour Cookies (Control)	3.43 +/- 0.23 ^A
Kudzu Rice Flour Cookies	14.07 +/- 3.35 ^A
Kudzu Wheat Flour Cookies	14.77 +/- 0.43
Spread (n=12)	(cm)
Wheat Flour Cookies (Control)*	7.41 +/- 0.30 ^B
Rice Flour Cookies (Control)*	9.94 +/- 0.40 ^{B,C}
Kudzu Rice Flour Cookies	8.11 +/- 0.32 ^{C,D}
Kudzu Wheat Flour Cookies	7.18 +/- 0.33 ^D

Table 1. Moisture Content (%) and Spread of Cookies (cm)

*ANOVA; significant difference (P<0.001)

^{A,B,C,D} Indicated significant (P<0.001) difference between each cookie type.

3.3 Compositional Analysis

As shown in **Table 2**, both types of control sugar cookies prepared with margarine were comparable in Calorie and macronutrient composition. Per 100g, the rice flour cookies (control) had the highest number of calories (568.8). Both types of cookies prepared with kudzu were almost 20% lower in Calories compared to their respective control cookies because the replacement of margarine with kudzu starch substantially reduced their fat content by 5 kcals/gram for those ingredients. Specifically, the wheat and rice flour cookies (control) had a fat content of 54.3 % while the cookies prepared with kudzu had 38.7% fat. Both cookies prepared with rice flour had higher carbohydrate content due to the amount of starch in both the rice flour and in the kudzu starch.

Nutrient	Wheat Flour Cookies	Rice Flour Cookies	Kudzu Wheat Flour Cookies	Kudzu Rice Flour Cookies
Energy (Kcal)	532.9	568.8	451.8	454.8
Carbohydrate	56.1 g; 42.1%	62.8 g; 44.2%	63.9 g; 56.6%	67.5 g; 59.4%
(g; % k-cal)				
Total Fat	32.1 g; 54.2%	34.4 g; 54.4%	19.4 g; 38.6%	19.6 g; 38.8%
(g; % k-cal)				
Protein	4.9 g; 3.7%	2.0 g; 1.4%	5.4 g; 4.8%	2.1 g; 1.8%
(g; % k-cal)				

Table 2. Compositional Analysis of Cookies*

*Macronutrient content per 100 g prepared product

Source: USDA Food Data Central; http://fdc.nal.usda.gov;

Accessed March 10th, 2021

<u>Chapter 4</u>

Summary and Discussion

This study examined, for the first time, the properties of both glutencontaining and gluten-free sugar cookies in which kudzu starch was substituted for margarine. Specifically, this study compared the moisture content and cookie spread of gluten-free, reduced fat rice flour and wheat flour cookies with kudzu to full-fat all-purpose wheat flour sugar cookies and gluten-free rice flour sugar cookies. The goal of this project was to determine if kudzu starch substitution for margarine could result in cookies with similar moisture content and spread to gluten-containing and gluten-free cookies containing margarine.

Consistent with the aims of this project, moisture contents of all four cookie types were evaluated. The results indicated that the rice flour and wheat flour cookies prepared with kudzu had significantly higher moisture content than control cookies prepared with margarine. It is possible that differences in fat and water content between margarine and kudzu starch may have influenced the moisture content of the cookies. Margarine contributes to the tenderization of baked goods by providing an illusion of wetness that is actually contributed by its high fat content (80%) (Silva et al., 2021). In contrast, kudzu starch thickened water is primarily water based on McWilliams, 2017. These differences may explain why the average moisture content of the cookies containing kudzu starch. Starch, in general, plays a role in maintaining moisture because it contains two polysaccharides: amylose and amylopectin (White and

Chiaramonte, 2021). These structural components have the ability to absorb water unlike the vegetable oil in margarine which is hydrophobic in nature (Debabhuti et al., 2022). In addition, the process of gelatinizing the kudzu starch includes the incorporation of water to create the kudzu-thickened mixture. The lower-in-fat version of rice flour cookies had a similar mean moisture content to the lower-in-fat versions of wheat flour cookies both substituted with kudzu.

Gluten may play a role in maintaining the spread of the wheat flour control cookie. During the mixing process, when flour was combined with the fat and egg mixture, this created a gluten matrix which helped hold in the melted fat and sugar preventing the cookie from spreading too far while influencing the density of the dough. The average spread for the wheat flour cookie was significantly smaller than the control rice flour cookie (p<0.001). Cookie spread of kudzu rice flour cookie was significantly bigger than the spread of the kudzu wheat flour cookie (p<0.001). The incorporation of kudzu starch into the wheat flour and rice flour cookies may have enhanced the thickening properties from the starch molecules, resulting in a decrease in spread compared to control rice flour cookie (Rojhani and Naranjo, 2017). Swelling power is significantly related to both amylose and amylopectin content (Faroog et al., 2021). During the baking process, these molecules swell and retain even more liquid which may have helped the cookies to spread less. According to Adeleye (2016), researchers used a starch-based instant food thickener as a fat replacer in chocolate chip cookies which resulted in a reduce of cookie spread. This

analysis supports the theory that kudzu starch can help reduce spread and increase the height of baked goods or cookies. When cookie spread was evaluated, the majority of cookie types ranged in 7.2 to 8.1 cm in spread. However, the control rice flour cookie was significantly larger (9.9 cm). This data would be expected because the lack of gluten in rice flour may compromise the structure of baked goods.

In addition, the types of flour used in each cookie suggest that their composition in relationship to water retention may contribute to observed differences. Gluten-containing flour is known to absorb water due to its glutenin and gliadin content. This fact may explain why the control wheat flour cookie had a higher moisture content than the control rice flour cookie which didn't contain gluten (Adeyeye et al., 2019). Another important thing to note is the starch in rice flour. With rice flour lacking gliadin and glutenin, it is mostly composed of starch, specifically, 20% amylose, which has a lower solubility value than glutinous rice flour and gluten in wheat flour (Farooq et al., 2021) (Yunos et al., 2021). The rice flour used in the cookies is known to not absorb liquid well because of amylose having a more compact structure and not being non-easily ruptured (Farooq et al., 2021). In fact, when rice flour is combined with water, it only creates a suspension (Netrprachit et al., 2019). As such, it is more effective to combine rice flour with other flours, gums, or starches like kudzu when developing gluten-free baked goods, that may help mimic the gluten matrix and increase water absorption.

The absence of margarine in the both kudzu-containing rice and kudzucontaining wheat flour cookies reduced the Calories substantially. Whereas fat, such as margarine, supplies nine Calories per gram, kudzu, as a starch-based carbohydrate provides just 4 Calories per gram. As such, the control rice flour cookies had approximately 6.3% more Calories than the control wheat flour cookies (532.9 Kcals). However, the removal of fat, margarine, reduced both the fat content and Calorie content of the rice cookies compared to control rice flour cookies with margarine.

This project shows that the use of kudzu starch as a substitute for margarine in rice flour cookies significantly helps maintain structure and increase moisture content compared to wheat flour cookies. This knowledge may help researchers develop other acceptable gluten-free products for people who have Celiac Disease or people who are following a low-fat diet to control other aspects of their health.

One of the limitations of this study was the inability to obtain sensory data about consumer acceptability of the cookies. The time that the project was started, COVID-19 emerged and spread throughout the United States. As such, the study was conducted strictly as a product development-study with objective analysis of the resulting cookies.

In the future, consumer acceptability of the products may be determined. In addition, more objective tests such as standing height may be used to determine how kudzu starch additionally affects the structural composition of the cookie types. Cookie hardness could also be used to see how soft or hard the final product is, after substitutions are made (Riaz et al., 2018).

The study showed that it is feasible to use kudzu starch such as a fat replacer in gluten-free sugar cookies. The reduction in Calories in the cookies and similarity in objective assessment, may facilitate its future use as food ingredient commercially for individuals diagnosed with Celiac Disease or Cardiovascular Disease.

References

- Adeleye, B. (2016). Effects of Starch-Based Instant Food Thickener as Fat Replacer on the Sensory and Objective Characteristics of Chocolate Chip Cookies. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 116(9), A49.
- Adeyeye S. A. O, Bolaji O. T, Abegunde T. A, Adebayo-Oyetoro A. O, Tiamiyu H.
 K, Idowu-Adebayo F6,7. (2019). Quality Characteristics and Consumer
 Acceptance of Bread from Wheat and Rice Composite Flour. Current
 Research in Nutrition & Food Science, 7(2), 488–495.
- Akesowan, A. (n.d.). Influence of konjac flour on foaming properties of milk
 protein concentrate and quality characteristics of gluten-free cookie.
 International Journal Of Food Science And Technology, 51(7), 1560–
 1569.
- Albarrati, A. M., Alghamdi, M. S. M., Nazer, R. I., Alkorashy, M. M., Alshowier, N.,
 & Gale, N. (2018). Effectiveness of Low to Moderate Physical Exercise
 Training on the Level of Low-Density Lipoproteins: A Systematic
 Review. BioMed Research International, Article #30515408.
- Alderman, D. H. (2015). When an Exotic Becomes Native. Southeastern Geographer, 55(1), 32–56.
- Almeida, N., Dias, F., Rodrigues, M., & Bell, J.M.L.N. (2019). Effects of Processing Conditions on the Simultaneous Extraction and Distribution of Oil and Protein from Almond Flour. Processes, 7(11), Article #7110844.

- AOAC (2000) Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International, 17th Ed. (W. Horwitz ed.) Association of Official Analytical Chemists International, Gaithersburg, MD.
- Aryupong, J., Suwannaporn, P., Fuongfuchat, A., & Gohtani, S. (2019).Annealing of Acid-Modified Rice Starch to Use as a Thickening Agent.Italian Journal of Food Science, 155-162.
- Bascuñán, K. A., Vespa, M. C., & Araya, M. (2017). Celiac disease: understanding the gluten-free diet. European Journal of Nutrition, 56(2), 449–459.
- Bhupathiraju, S. N., & Tucker, K. L. (2011). Coronary heart disease prevention:
 Nutrients, foods, and dietary patterns. Clinica Chimica Acta, 412(17– 18), 1493–1514.
- Biguzzi, C., Schlich, P., & Lange, C. (2014). The impact of sugar and fat reduction on perception and liking of biscuits. Food Quality & Preference, 35, 41–47.
- Caio, G., Volta, U., Sapone, A., Leffler, D. A., De Giorgio, R., Catassi, C., &Fasano, A. (2019). Celiac disease: a comprehensive current review.BMC Medicine, 17(1), Article #31331324.
- Dadkhah, A., Elhami Rad, A. H., & Azizinezhad, R. (2017). Effect of pumpkin powder as a fat replacer on rheological properties, specific volume and moisture content of cake. Banat's Journal of Biotechnology, 8(16), 116– 126.

- Debabhuti, N, Mukherjee, S, Neogi, S, Sharma, P, Sk, UH, Maiti, S, Sarkar, MP, Tudu, B, Bhattacharyya, N & Bandyopadhyay, R 2022, 'A study of vegetable oil modified QCM sensor to detect β-pinene in Indian cardamom', Talanta, vol. 236, Article # 122837.
- Domanski, M. J., Tian, X., Wu, C. O., Reis, J. P., Dey, A. K., Gu, Y., Zhao, L.,
 Bae, S., Liu, K., Hasan, A. A., Zimrin, D., Farkouh, M. E., Hong, C. C.,
 Lloyd-Jones, D. M., & Fuster, V. (2020). Time Course of LDL
 Cholesterol Exposure and Cardiovascular Disease Event Risk. Journal
 of the American College of Cardiology, 76(13), 1507–1516.
- Dragomir, N., & Bahaciu, G.-V. (2019). Specific Gluten-Based Flours
 Recommended in the Gluten-Free Diet. Scientific Papers: Series D,
 Animal Science The International Session of Scientific
 Communications of the Faculty of Animal Science, 62(2), 302–308.
- Engelmann, J. I., Silva, P. P., Igansi, A. V., Pohndorf, R. S., Cadaval, J. T. R. S., Crexi, V. T., & Pinto, L. A. A. (2018). Structured lipids by swine lard interesterification with oil and esters from common carp viscera. Journal of Food Process Engineering, 41(4), 1.Science, 62(2), 302–308.
- Eskridge Anna E., Alderman Derek H., Eskridge, A. E., & Alderman, D. H. (2010). Alien Invaders, Plant Thugs, and the Southern Curse : Framing Kudzu as Environmental Other through Discourses of Fear. Southeastern Geographer, 50(1), 110–129.

- Farooq, M. A., Murtaza, M. A., Aadil, R. M., Arshad, R., Rahaman, A., Siddique,
 R., Hassan, S., Akhtar, H. M. S., Manzoor, M. F., Karrar, E., Ali, A., &
 Haq, A. U. (2021). Investigating the structural properties and in vitro
 digestion of rice flours. Food Science & Nutrition, 9(5), 2668–2675.
- Fattore, E., & Massa, E. (2018). Dietary fats and cardiovascular health: a summary of the scientific evidence and current debate. International Journal of Food Sciences & Nutrition, 69(8), 916–927.
- FoodData Central. US Department of Agriculture (n.d.). <u>https://fdc.nal.usda.gov/</u>. Date accessed: 02/03/2020.
- Formentini, F. S., Zaina Nagano, F. E., Lopes Neto, F. D. N., Adam, E. L., Fortes, F. S., & Silva, L. F. da. (2019). Coronary artery disease and body mass index: What is the relationship? Clinical Nutrition ESPEN, 34, 87–93.
- Fueyo-Díaz, R., Magallón-Botaya, R., Masluk, B., Palacios-Navarro, G., Asensio-Martínez, A., Gascón-Santos, S., Olivan-Blázquez, B., & Sebastián-Domingo, J. J. (2019). Prevalence of celiac disease in primary care: the need for its own code. BMC Health Services Research, 19(1), 578-578.
- Garner, P. (2016). Celiac Disease : Risk Factors, Health Implications and Dietary Management. Nova Science Publishers, Inc., New York, United States.
- Glissen Brown, J. R., & Singh, P. (2019). Coeliac disease. Paediatrics and International Child Health, 39(1), 23–31.

- Granato, D., & Ellendersen, L. de S. N. (2009). Almond and peanut flours supplemented with iron as potential ingredients to develop gluten-free cookies / Farinhas de amêndoa e amendoim suplementadas com ferro como ingredientes potenciais para desenvolvimento de biscoitos sem glúten. Food Science and Technology, 29(2), 395–400.
- Hamley.S. (2017). The effect of replacing saturated fat with mostly n-6 polyunsaturated fat on coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Nutrition Journal, 16(1), 1–16.
- Heredia-Sandoval, N. G., Valencia-Tapia, M. Y., Calderón de la Barca, A. M., &
 Islas-Rubio, A. R. (2016). Microbial Proteases in Baked Goods:
 Modification of Gluten and Effects on Immunogenicity and Product
 Quality. Foods, 5(3), Article #5030059.
- Hu, S.-M., & Hung-Sheng (Herman) Lai. (2017). Developing Low-Fat Banana
 Bread by Using Okra Gum as a Fat Replacer. Journal of Culinary
 Science & Technology, 15(1), 36–42.
- Huang, Z., Stipkovits, L., Zheng, H., Serventi, L., & Brennan, C. S. (n.d.). BovineMilk Fats and Their Replacers in Baked Goods: A Review. Foods, 8(9), 1-2.
- Hudson, A. B., & Aborn, D. A. (2020). Seasonal Correlations Between Kudzu and
 Avian Species Diversity and Abundance in Southeastern Tennessee.
 Southeastern Naturalist, 19(1), 161-178.

- Indriani, S., Bin Ab Karim, M. S., Nalinanon, S., & Karnjanapratum, S. (2020).
 Quality characteristics of protein-enriched brown rice flour and cake affected by Bombay locust (Patanga succincta L.) powder fortification.
 LWT - Food Science & Technology, 119, Article #108876.
- Jia, C., Kim, Y. S., Huang, W., & Huang, G. (2008). Sensory and instrumental assessment of Chinese moon cake: Influences of almond flour, maltitol syrup, fat, and gums. Food Research International, 41(9), 930–936.
- Kahraman, G., Harsa, S., Lucisano, M., & Cappa, C. (2018). Physicochemical and rheological properties of rice-based gluten-free blends containing differently treated chickpea flours. LWT, 98, 276–282.
- Koerner, T. B., Cleroux, C., Poirier, C., Cantin, I., La Vieille, S., Hayward, S., & Dubois, S. (2013). Gluten contamination of naturally gluten-free flours and starches used by Canadians with celiac disease. Food Additives & Contaminants. Part A: Chemistry, Analysis, Control, Exposure & Risk Assessment, 30(12), 2017–2021.
- Krauss, R. M., & Kris-Etherton, P. M. (2020). Public health guidelines should recommend reducing saturated fat consumption as much as possible: NO. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 112(1), 19-24.

Kyoung-Mo Koo, H. L., Eun Soon Lyu, H. L., Kim, J. C., Dong Sun Lee, & Hyun-Dong Paik, J. C. (2003). Quality changes during the storage of sous vide processed soybean sprouts soup. Food Service Technology, 3(3/4), 107–112.

- Lerner, A., Torsten, M., & Patricia, W. (2019). Autoimmunity in celiac disease: Extra-intestinal manifestations. Autoimmunity Reviews, 18(3), 241–246.
- Li, H., Cui, B., Janaswamy, S., & Guo, L. (2019). Structural and functional modifications of kudzu starch modified by branching enzyme. International Journal of Food Properties, 22(1), 952-966.
- Lichtenstein, A. H. (n.d.). Dietary Fat and Cardiovascular Disease: Ebb and Flow Over the Last Half Century. Advances In Nutrition, 10, S332–S339.
- Littlejohns, T. J., Chong, A. Y., Allen, N. E., Arnold, M., Bradbury, K. E., Mentzer,
 A. J., Soilleux, E. J., & Carter, J. L. (2021). Genetic, lifestyle, and
 health-related characteristics of adults without celiac disease who follow
 a gluten-free diet: a population-based study of 124,447 participants.
 American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 113(3), 622–629.
- Lucas, T., Vanin, F., Ureta, M., Challois, S., Diascorn, Y., Salvadori, V., & Grenier, D. (2020). Inflation, squeezing and collapse in wheat flour dough during baking: Effects of flour quality and oven temperature. Journal of Cereal Science, 95, 1-8.
- Majzoobi, M., Raiss Jalali, A., & Farahnaky, A. (2016). Impact of Whole Oat Flour on Dough Properties and Quality of Fresh and Stored Part-Baked Bread. Journal of Food Quality, 39(6), 620–626.
- Manaf, Y. N., Marikkar, J. M. N., Mustafa, S., Van Bockstaele, F., & Nusantoro,
 B. P. (n.d.). Effect of three plant-based shortenings and lard on cookie dough properties and cookies quality. International Food Research Journal, 26(6), 1795–1802.

- Mancebo, C. M., Rodriguez, P., & Gómez, M. (2016). Assessing rice flour-starchprotein mixtures to produce gluten free sugar-snap cookies. LWT -Food Science and Technology, 67, 127–132.
- Marcus, J.B. (2013). Culinary Nutrition: The Science and Practice of Healthy Cooking - By Jacqueline B. Marcus. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 37(4), 465–466.
- Medal, J., Halbert, S., Santa Cruz, A., Smith, T., & Jo Davis, B. (2016).
 Greenhouse study to determine the host range of the kudzu bug,
 Megacopta cribraria (Heteroptera: Plataspidae). The Florida
 Entomologist, 99(2), 303-305.
- McWilliams, M. (2017). Experimental Foods: Laboratory Manual. Los Angeles, California: Prentice Hall PTR. Date accessed: 02/10/2020
- Min, B., Bae, I. Y., Lee, H. G., Yoo, S.-H., & Lee, S. (2010). Utilization of pectinenriched materials from apple pomace as a fat replacer in a model food system. Bioresource Technology, 101(14), 5414–5418.
- Munir, F., Musharraf, S. G., Sherazi, S. T. H., Malik, M. I., & Bhanger, M. I.
 (2019). Detection of lard contamination in five different edible oils by
 FT-IR spectroscopy using a partial least squares calibration model.
 Turkish Journal of Chemistry, 43(4), 1098–1108.
- Netrprachit, P., Ogawa, M., & Suwannaporn, P. (2019). Transglutaminase Crosslinking to Improve Quality of Rice Flour Gel. Italian Journal of Food Science, 163–170.

- Nurulain, O., Marina, A. M., & Sakinah, H. (2016). The Effect of Avocado Puree as Fat Replace on the Physical Quality of Muffin. Malaysian Applied Biology, 45(2), 11–16.
- Otman, M. A., Elsayed, A. G., Gadalla, S.-E., Ali, S. H., Saleh Alfrik, N. G., Ali Alkhrum, K. M., Abdallrazk, R. O., Ali, G., Omran, K. E., Elgendy, L. M., Alhasnony, A. M., & Ibrahim, F. (2020). Celiac disease cure: I just open the door but you must walk through it yourself. International Journal of Pharmacy & Life Sciences, 11(8), 6903–6908.
- Park, E., Edirisinghe, I., & Burton-Freeman, B. (2018). Avocado Fruit on
 Postprandial Markers of Cardio-Metabolic Risk: A Randomized
 Controlled Dose Response Trial in Overweight and Obese Men and
 Women. Nutrients, 10(9), 10-14.
- Parsons, C. (1922). The American Chemical Society. Science, 56(1456), 607-610. Retrieved November 4, 2020.
- Pokharia, A. K., Sharma, S., Tripathi, D., Mishra, N., Pal, J. N., Vinay, R., & Srivastava, A. (2017). Neolithic–Early historic (2500–200 BC) plant use:
 The archaeobotany of Ganga Plain, India. Quaternary International, 443(Part B), 223–237.
- Punia, S., Siroha, A. K., Sandhu, K. S., & Kaur, M. (2019). Rheological and pasting behavior of OSA modified mungbean starches and its utilization in cake formulation as fat replacer. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 128, 230–236.

- Qian, X., Sun, B., Zhu, C., Zhang, Z., Tian, X., & Wang, X. (2020). Effect of stirfrying on oat milling and pasting properties and rheological properties of oat flour. Journal of Cereal Science, 92, Article # 102908.
- Reddy, C. K., Luan, F., & Xu, B. (2017). Morphology, crystallinity, pasting,
 thermal and quality characteristics of starches from adzuki bean (Vigna angularis L.) and edible kudzu (Pueraria thomsonii Benth). International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 105(Part 1), 354–362.
- Riaz, A., Pasha, I., Sharif, M. K., & Jamil, A. (2018). Physico-Chemical and
 Organoleptic Properties of Cookies Supplemented with Chemically
 Modified Starch. Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 55(1), 169–
 174.
- Rico, D., Ronda, F., Villanueva, M., Perez Montero, C., & Martin-Diana, A. B.
 (2019). Development of healthy gluten-free crackers from white and brown tef (Eragrostis tef Zucc.) flours. Heliyon, 5(10), Article #02598.
- Rojhani, A., & Naranjo, J. (2017). Physiochemical, Textural, and Sensory Characteristics of Sugar Cookies Made with High Amylose Maize Resistant Starch. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics,117, A50.
- Romanchik-Cerpovicz, J., Ingram, C., & Rosser, A. (2020). Effect of Milk Fat on the Physical and Sensory Properties of Vanilla Puddings Prepared with Kudzu Starch Compared to Cornstarch. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, S, A50.

- Romanchik-Cerpovicz, J. E., Tilmon, R. W., & Baldree, K. A. (2002). Moisture retention and consumer acceptability of chocolate bar cookies prepared with okra gum as a fat ingredient substitute. (Research and Professional Briefs). Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 9, 1301-1303.
- Silva TJ, Barrera-Arellano D, Ribeiro APB. (2021) Margarines: Historical approach, technological aspects, nutritional profile, and global trends. Food Research International, 147, Article #110486.
- Slining, M. M., and B. M. Popkin. 2013. "Trends in Intakes and Sources of Solid Fats and Added Sugars among U.S. Children and Adolescents: 1994-2010." Pediatric Obesity 8 (4), 307-324.
- Smith, P.R., Johansson, J. (2004) Influences of the proportion of solid fat in a shortening on a loaf volume and staling of bread. Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, 28(5), 359-367.
- Sofi, S. A., Singh, J., Muzaffar, K., Majid, D., & Dar, B. N. (2020).
 Physicochemical characteristics of protein isolates from native and germinated chickpea cultivars and their noodle quality. International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science, 22, Article #100258.
- Stantiall, S. E., & Serventi, L. (2018). Nutritional and sensory challenges of gluten-free bakery products: a review. International Journal of Food Sciences & Nutrition, 69(4), 427–436.

- Sudheendran, S., Chang, C. C., & Deckelbaum, R. J. (2010). N-3 vs. saturated fatty acids: Effects on the arterial wall. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids (PLEFA), 82(4–6), 205–209.
- Sutheeves, S., Chai-uea, P., & Thirathumthavorn, D. (2020). Impact of Hydrocolloids on the Physico-Chemical and Sensory Properties of Gluten-Free Instant Noodles from Rice Flour and Mung Bean Starch. Italian Journal of Food Science, 32(2), 438-449.
- Torbica, A., Hadnađev, M., & Dapčević Hadnađev, T. (2012). Rice and buckwheat flour characterisation and its relation to cookie quality. Food Research International, 48(1), 277–283.
- Urubkov Sergey A., Khovanskaya Svetlana S., & Smirnov Stanislav O. (2020). Prospects for Using Amaranth and Native Buckwheat in Dry Gluten-Free Mixes for Children with Gluten Intolerance.Food Processing: Technique and Technology, 50(2), 232–241.
- Vinay, B. C., Shastry, C. S., Kodangala, S., Mateti, U. V., & Bhat, K. (2020). Association of diet and lipid profile among coronary heart disease patients. Clinical Epidemiology and Global Health, 8(4), 1321–1324.
- Vincentini, O., Izzo, M., Maialetti, F., Gonnelli, E., Neuhold, S., & SILANO, M.
 (2016). Risk of Cross-Contact for Gluten-Free Pizzas in SharedProduction Restaurants in Relation to Oven Cooking Procedures.
 Journal of Food Protection, 79(9), 1642–1646.

- Wang, W., Wang, Y., Gao, X., Zhao, Z., Li, L., Yu, B., Liu, G., & Lin, P. (2020).
 Association between food and nutrients intakes and coronary plaque vulnerability in patients with coronary heart disease: An optical coherence tomography study. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 31(1), 201-208.
- Wekwete, B., & Navder, K. P. (2008). Effects of Avocado Fruit Puree and Oatrim as Fat Replacers on the Physical, Textural and Sensory Properties of Oatmeal Cookies. Journal of Food Quality, 31(2), 131–141.
- White, R., & Chiaramonte, E. (2021). Starch Amylose and Amylopectin Molar Mass and Size Distributions by FFF-MALS. LC GC NORTH AMERICA, 39(2), 102.
- Wong, K. H., Li, G. Q., Li, K. M., Razmovski-Naumovski, V., & CHAN, K. (2011). Kudzu root: Traditional uses and potential medicinal benefits in diabetes and cardiovascular diseases. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 134(3), 584–607.
- Yano, H., Fukui, A., Kajiwara, K., Kobayashi, I., Yoza, K., Satake, A., &
 Villeneuve, M. (2017). Development of gluten-free rice bread: Pickering stabilization as a possible batter-swelling mechanism. LWT Food
 Science and Technology, 79, 632–639.
- Yanty, N.A., Dollah, S., Marikkar, J., Miskandar, M.S., Desa, M.N., & Nusantoro,
 B. (2018). Physicochemical properties and thermal behavior of binary
 blends of Madhuca longifolia seed fat and palm oil as a lard substitute.
 Journal of Advanced Agricultural Technologies, 5, 202-208.

- Żbikowska, A., & Kowalska, M. (2017). The use of apple fiber as a fat substitute in the manufacture of bakery products. Journal of Food Processing & Preservation, 41(6), Article #13241.
- Zhu, Y., Bo, Y., & Liu, Y. (2019). Dietary total fat, fatty acids intake, and risk of cardiovascular disease: a dose-response meta-analysis of cohort studies. Lipids in Health and Disease, 18(1), Article # 6451787.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Time Schedule of Study

Appendix A: Time Schedule of Study

Thesis Proposal Submitted	December 2020
Data Collection	September-October 2020
Data Analysis	January 2021
Final Thesis Submitted to Honors Program Office	November 2021
Presentation of Thesis	November 2021

Appendix B: Biographical Summary

Appendix B: Biographical Summary

Saabirah Carr

Date of Birth: November 9th, 1998

Home Address:

2136 Stoneview Drive

Lithia Springs, GA 30122

Nutrition and Food Science

Georgia Southern University

Bachelor of Science:

Emphasis:

Food Science/Food Systems Administration

Thesis Title: Development of Gluten-Free Sugar Cookies Using Kudzu Starch as a Partial Fat Replacement Ingredient

Mentor: Dr. Joelle Romanchik-Cerpovicz